THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In The Court of Appeals

**RECEIVED**

OCT 10 2016

APPEAL FROM GREENWOOD COUNTY  
Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge

SC Court of Appeals

Appellate Case No. 2015-000980

The State, ..... Respondent,

v.

Tavarious Settles, ..... Appellant.

**FINAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT**

John W. Roberts  
**WILLOUGHBY & HOEFER, P.A.**  
Post Office Box 8416  
Columbia, South Carolina 29202-8416  
(803) 252-3300

Robert M. Dudek  
Chief Appellate Defender  
**SOUTH CAROLINA COMMISSION  
ON INDIGENT DEFENSE**  
1330 Lady Street, Suite 401  
Columbia, South Carolina 29201  
(803) 734-1330  
Attorneys for Appellant

**

## STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

- I. Based on the totality of the circumstances, did the trial court err by admitting the statement made by Settles, a youth under the age of 18, where the statement was obtained during police interrogation outside the presence of a guardian or attorney, there was testimony at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing that the police misrepresented that Settles was restricted from making a phone call prior to his interrogation, and Settles was not, in fact, offered the opportunity to make a phone call until after his interrogation.
  
- II. The South Carolina Supreme Court recently held that individualized and meaningful sentencing hearings are required for youths under the age of 18 at the time of the crime that are subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Settles was under the age of 18 and was subject to a potential sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Did the trial court err by refusing to conduct an individualized and meaningful sentencing hearing and by refusing to allow the testimony of mitigation experts?

## STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This case was commenced against Appellant Tavarious Settles upon indictment 2013-GS-24-1538 for the charge of murder and indictment 2013-GS-24-1539 for the charge of possession of a firearm or knife during the commission of a crime. **(R. pp. 12; 473)**. Settles was tried before a jury in Greenwood, South Carolina from March 30, 2015 through April 2, 2015. **(R. p. 5)**. Following deliberations, Settles was found guilty on both charges and thereafter sentenced by the trial court to 45 years in prison on the murder charge and a concurrent five year sentence on the possession of firearm charge. **(R. pp. 383-84; 411)**. Settles timely filed a post-trial motion for reconsideration of the sentence imposed on April 8, 2015, which the trial court denied by order dated April 21, 2015. **(R. pp. 414-417)**. Settles timely served his notice of appeal on April 29, 2015. **(R. p. 475)**.

## STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On the evening of May 30, 2013, Prudencio Chiquin Sis (Sis) was killed by multiple gunshot wounds. (R. pp. 142-44). Immediately prior to his death, Sis was walking in a residential area in Greenwood, South Carolina. (R. pp. 100; 127). A resident of the area, Jerry Turner, witnessed two males approach Sis, heard them exchange words with him, and then heard gunshots. (R. pp. 100; 116). Mr. Turner immediately called 9-1-1 and police arrived within minutes of the call. (R. pp. 100; State's Ex. 1). Multiple officers and crime scene investigators responded to the scene. (R. pp. 143-44). Evidence was gathered, and Mr. Turner's statement was taken. (R. pp. 187-88). No other resident of the area had any direct knowledge of the shooting. (R. p. 188).

Ultimately, the Greenwood City Police Department's investigation centered upon four individuals, Settles, Markece Moore, Michael Patten,<sup>1</sup> and Bryson Jefferson. (R. p. 188). Settles, Patten, and Jefferson were all under the age of 18 at the time of Sis' death; Moore was an adult. (R. pp. 44; 54; 78; 162). Settles, Moore, and Patten were all charged with Sis' murder; Jefferson was not charged at all in connection with Sis's death.<sup>2</sup> (R. pp. 92-93; 377).

Settles was arrested on June 13, 2013. (R. pp. 152; 157). At the time of his arrest, Settles was less than two months past his 17th birthday and was living with his grandmother. (R. pp. 162; 163; 297). He was beginning the 11th grade at Greenwood High School and had no prior criminal record. (R. pp. 297-98; 407).

---

<sup>1</sup> The trial transcript incorrectly identifies Michael Patten as Michael Patton.

<sup>2</sup> Settles' case was the first of the three (and, to date, the only one) that the State brought to trial. (R. p. 408); see <http://publicindex.sccourts.org/Greenwood/PublicIndex> (Under searches for "Patten, Michael James" and "Moore, Markece"); see also *Wise v. Wise*, 394 S.C. 591, 601, 716 S.E.2d 117, 122 (Ct. App. 2011) ("[A]n appellate court can take judicial notice of something that was not before the trial court if it is indisputable.").

Prior to being booked into jail, Settles was taken to an interview room at the Greenwood City Detectives Office where he was interrogated by Greenwood City detective, Joe Collins. **(R. p. 152)**. No one else was present during the interrogation. **(R. pp. 153; 161)**. Settles testified at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing that he did not know that he had been charged with murder at the time he was interrogated. **(R. pp. 161-62)**.

According to the testimony of Detective Collins, Settles was not offered the opportunity to speak with a parent or guardian prior to being interrogated. **(R. pp. 158-59)**. Settles also testified at the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing that he asked to make a phone call but was told he was restricted from making any phone calls. **(R. pp. 162-63; 165)**. The State did not present any evidence or testimony that the police provided Settles the opportunity to make a phone call prior to him being interrogated. And, in fact, Detective Collins testified that he did not offer Settles the opportunity to make a phone call until after the interrogation. **(R. p. 197)**. Settles testified that, if he had been given the opportunity, he would have called his grandmother to ask her to talk to a lawyer and come to the police station. **(R. pp. 162-63)**.

Detective Collins recorded only the last three and half minutes of his approximately 40-minute interrogation of Settles. **(R. pp. 153; 155; State's Ex. 34)**. Prior to Detective Collins beginning the recording, he had Settles sign an "Adult Waiver of Rights." **(R. pp. 160; 466; State's Ex. 34)**. Detective Collins testified that he also verbally informed Settles of his rights briefly before the interrogation, but this was not captured on the recording. **(R. pp. 158; 160; State's Ex. 34)**. In the recorded statement, Settles states that he was with Moore, Patten, and Jefferson immediately before the shooting and that he witnessed Moore shoot Sis. **(State's Ex. 34)**.

Other than the self-serving testimony of Moore, the only witness the State produced that had any direct knowledge of the circumstances surrounding the shooting was Mr. Turner. (R. p. 188). Mr. Turner gave only a vague description of the two males that had approached Sis and did not identify Settles or anyone else as one of those males. (R. p. 99). Mr. Turner testified that he saw “something shiny” that looked like a gun in the hand of one of the males that approached Sis but he was unsure which of the two males was holding it. (R. p. 116). Mr. Turner further testified that he only heard the shooting and did not see it. (R. p. 116).

The State’s only evidence connecting Settles to the crime was the testimony of Moore, Patten, and Jefferson against Settles and Settles’ statement to police after he was arrested and in police custody. The State did not produce any forensic evidence linking Settles to the crime scene. Nor did the State produce any murder weapon. Given the lack of credibility of Moore, Patten, and Jefferson,<sup>3</sup> the State’s case hinged on Settles’ statement.<sup>4</sup>

### STANDARD OF REVIEW

In criminal cases, the appellate court sits to review errors of law only. *State v. Baccus*, 367 S.C. 41, 48, 625 S.E.2d 216, 220 (2006). Evidentiary rulings are within the

---

<sup>3</sup> The testimony at trial of Moore, Patten, and Jefferson was inconsistent and conflicted with each of their multiple prior statements to the police. (R. pp. 30-97). Indeed, Moore and Patten admitted to lying to the police multiple times, and it was demonstrated that Moore lied during his in-court testimony. (R. pp. 42; 44; 46-47; 52; 56; 79; 290). Moreover, Patten and Jefferson did not witness the shooting, and only Moore that testified he witnessed Settles shoot Sis. (R. pp. 47; 60; 79-80).

<sup>4</sup> This is confirmed by the fact that the only evidence specifically referenced by trial court in denying Settles’ motion for a directed verdict was Settles’ statement because of its relevance to the State’s “hand of one, hand of all” theory. (R. pp. 262-64). This is further confirmed by a question by the jury to the trial court during deliberations regarding the applicability of the “hand of one, hand of all” theory to the weapons charge, which demonstrates the jury did not believe Moore’s testimony that Settles had a gun and shot Sis. (R. pp. 378-80; 463).

sound discretion of the trial court, and such rulings will not be reversed absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error that prejudices the defendant. *State v. Garner*, 389 S.C. 61, 65, 697 S.E.2d 615, 617 (Ct. App. 2010) (citing *State v. Rice*, 375 S.C. 302, 314, 652 S.E.2d 409, 415 (Ct. App. 2007)). On review, appellate courts are limited to determining whether the trial judge abused his discretion. *State v. Reed*, 332 S.C. 35, 503 S.E.2d 747 (1998). The trial court abuses its discretion when the ruling is based on an error of law or factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support. *Garner*, 389 S.C. at 65, 697 S.E.2d at 617 (citing *Rice*, 375 S.C. at 315, 652 S.E.2d at 415).

### ARGUMENT

- I. **Based on the totality of the circumstances, the trial court erred by admitting the statement made by Settles, a youth under the age of 18, where the statement was obtained during police interrogation outside the presence of a guardian or attorney, there was testimony during the *Jackson v. Denno* hearing that the police misrepresented that Settles was restricted from making a phone call prior to his interrogation, and Settles was not, in fact, offered the opportunity to make a phone call until after his interrogation.**

A statement obtained as a result of custodial interrogation is inadmissible unless the suspect voluntarily waived his rights. *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 498-500 (1966). “[A]ny criminal trial use against a defendant of his involuntary statement is a denial of due process of law....” *State v. Hook*, 348 S.C. 401, 410, 559 S.E.2d 856, 860 (Ct. App. 2001), *aff’d as modified*, 356 S.C. 421, 590 S.E.2d 25 (2003) (citing *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964) (“It is now axiomatic that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession....”). “The State bears the burden of establishing voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence...even where a defendant has signed a waiver of

rights form....” *Hook*, 348 S.C. at 410, 559 S.E.2d at 860. “The test for determining the admissibility of a statement is whether it was knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily given under the totality of the circumstances.” *Hook*, 348 S.C. at 410, 559 S.E.2d at 860; see *State v. Morris*, 307 S.C. 480, 487, 415 S.E.2d 819, 823 (Ct. App. 1991) (“The test of admissibility of an accused’s statement against him is voluntariness.”).

“The test of voluntariness is ‘whether a defendant’s will was overborne by the circumstances surrounding the given statement. The due process test takes into consideration the totality of all the surrounding circumstances—both the characteristics of the accused and the details of the interrogation.’” *State v. Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 384, 652 S.E.2d 444, 451 (Ct. App. 2007) (quoting *Dickerson v. United States*, 530 U.S. 428, 434 (2000)). Accordingly, factors that the trial court should consider under the totality-of-circumstances analysis include: police coercion; police misrepresentations; the location of the interrogation; the age, education, maturity, background, experience, and conduct of the accused; and isolation of a minor from his or her parents. *Miller*, 375 S.C. 370, 384, 652 S.E.2d 444, 451. “Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect.” *Id* at 386, 652 S.E.2d at 452.

At trial, Settles’ defense counsel moved to suppress the statement Settles made during his custodial interrogation, and the trial court conducted a *Jackson v. Denno* hearing to determine the admissibility of the statement. (R. p. 151). Detective Collins and Settles testified at the hearing. (R. pp. 151-70). After this testimony, Settles’ defense counsel argued that the statement was not given voluntarily considering the totality of the circumstances, including Settles’ age, the fact that he was not offered the opportunity to make a phone call or contact his mother or grandmother prior to his interrogation, and the

fact that the police misrepresented that he was restricted from making such a call. (R. pp. 165-70). The trial court, however, determined that Settles voluntarily waived his rights and therefore denied Settles' motion to suppress the statement and allowed the State to present it to the jury. (R. p. 169).

The trial court based its ruling as to the voluntariness of Settles' statement largely on the fact that it believed Detective Collins' testimony that, as described by the trial court, "[Settles] was free to make a phone call if he wanted to" to be more credible than Settles' testimony that he had been told that he was restricted from making a phone call. (R. p. 170). However, Detective Collins never testified that "Settles was free to make a phone call if he wanted to" and never testified that he offered Settles the opportunity to make a phone call *prior* to interrogating Settles and obtaining his statement. Detective Collins' testimony was only that he offered Settles the opportunity to make a phone call; he did not specify that he made this offer prior to obtaining Settles' statement. And, in fact, he subsequently testified that he did not offer Settles the opportunity to make a phone call until after the interrogation. (R. p. 197). Accordingly, the trial court's finding in support of its ruling as to the voluntariness of the statement that "Mr. Settles was offered the opportunity to make a phone call and declined to do so" prior to being interrogated by the police has no evidentiary support in the record. Therefore, on this basis alone, the trial court abused its discretion by failing to suppress Settles' statement. *Garner*, 389 S.C. at 65, 697 S.E.2d at 617 ("The trial court abuses its discretion when the ruling is based on...[a] factual conclusion that is without evidentiary support.")

Moreover, in part because of the trial court's erroneous factual conclusion, the trial court did not properly apply—and could not have properly applied—the requisite

totality-of-circumstances analysis. Indeed, through its erroneous factual finding, the trial court removed from its analysis a critical factor demonstrating the police's coercion and why Settles statement was not voluntary. Because by misrepresenting that Settles could not make a phone call and depriving him of the opportunity to do so prior to interrogating him, the police removed any way by which Settles could exercise his right to an attorney. Simply put, the right to consult with counsel is meaningless if it can be eliminated by depriving the suspect of his only avenue for contacting counsel. And while an adult experienced with the criminal justice system may not fall prey to this misrepresentation and might not waive the right to an attorney under similar circumstances, to Settles—a teenager with no prior involvement with the criminal justice system—the supposed waiver of his right to an attorney was essentially meaningless because, from his perspective, he had no way to exercise that right. *Miller* at 386, 652 S.E.2d at 452 (“Coercion is determined from the perspective of the suspect.”) Long ago, the United States Supreme Court made this point abundantly clear:

But a 14-year-old boy, no matter how sophisticated, is unlikely to have any conception of what will confront him when he is made accessible only to the police. That is to say, we deal with a person who is not equal to the police in knowledge and understanding of the consequences of the questions and answers being recorded and who is unable to know how to protest his own interests or how to get the benefits of his constitutional rights.

...

He cannot be compared with an adult in full possession of his senses and knowledgeable of the consequences of his admissions. He would have no way of knowing what the consequences of his confession were without advice as to his rights—from someone concerned with securing him those rights—and without the aid of more mature judgment as to the steps he should take in the predicament in which he found himself. A lawyer or an adult relative or friend could have given the petitioner the protection which his own immaturity could not. Adult advice would have put him on a less unequal footing with his interrogators. Without some adult

protection against this inequality, a 14-year-old boy would not be able to know, let alone assert, such constitutional rights as he had. To allow this conviction to stand would, in effect, be to treat him as if he had no constitutional rights.

*Gallegos v. Colorado*, 370 U.S. 49, 54-55 (1962).

Although youth alone is not enough to render Settles' statement inadmissible, when the requisite totality-of-circumstances analysis is properly applied and his youth and inexperience with the criminal justice system are considered in combination with the restriction on his access or ability to contact his guardian or an attorney, Settles' statement was not voluntarily made and the trial court's contrary ruling was an abuse of discretion. Because Settles' conviction was based in large part on this involuntary and coerced statement, his conviction should be reversed. *Jackson v. Denno*, 378 U.S. at 376 ("It is now axiomatic that a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession..."). Further, because the State could not have avoided a directed verdict or proved Settles' guilt beyond a reasonable doubt without this statement, Settles should be granted a new trial.

**II. The trial court erred by refusing to conduct the individualized and meaningful sentencing hearing required for youths under the age of 18 that are subject to a life sentence without the possibility of parole and by refusing to allow the testimony of mitigation experts.**

In *Aiken v. Byars*, the South Carolina Supreme Court established an "affirmative requirement" that all youths under the age of 18 at the time of the alleged crime that "may be subject to a sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole" are entitled to an individualized and meaningful sentencing hearing that "fully explore[s] the impact of the defendant's juvenility on the sentence rendered." 410 S.C. 534, 543-545,

765 S.E.2d 572, 576-578 (2014) (applying *Miller v. Alabama*, — U.S. —, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012)). At the time of the alleged crime, Settles was under the age of 18. **(R. p. 162)**. Because the jury found him guilty of murder, he was automatically subject to a potential sentence of life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. S.C. Code Ann. § 16-3-20(A).

The trial court, however, expressly rejected the applicability of *Byars* to Settles' sentencing as well as Settles' request for the appointment of a mitigation specialist or expert to assist in the presentation of mitigating evidence. **(R. pp. 15-17; 387-95; 414-18)**. Instead, the trial court conducted a perfunctory sentencing hearing within minutes of the jury's verdict that failed to comply with the requirements of *Byars* and then sentenced Settles to 45 years without parole on the murder charge.<sup>5</sup> **(R. pp. 395-411)**. This was erroneous and demands that, at the very least, this case be remanded for a new sentencing hearing and the appointment of and funding for mitigation experts.

In *Byars*, the South Carolina Supreme Court reviewed and applied the United States Supreme Court's 2012 decision in *Miller v. Alabama*. The United States Supreme Court held in *Miller* that mandatory sentences to life in prison without the possibility of parole for juvenile—under 18 years of age—offenders violated the Eighth Amendment's prohibition of cruel and unusual punishments. 132 S.Ct. at 2461; *see* U.S. Const. amend VIII. In reaching this decision, the United States Supreme Court examined two prior decisions—*Roper v. Simmons*, 534 U.S. 551 (2005) and *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48 (2010)—in which the Court invalidated the death penalty for all juvenile offenders and

---

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