ORIGINAL
RECEIVED

SEP 30 2016

SC Court of Appeals

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

**Appeal from Greenwood County
Honorable Frank R. Addy, Jr., Circuit Court Judge**

THE STATE,

Respondent,

v.

TAVARIOUS SETTLES,

Appellant

Appellate Case No. 2015-000980.

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

JOHN W. McINTOSH
Chief Deputy Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

CAROLINE M. SCRANTOM
Assistant Attorney General

P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, South Carolina, 29211
(803) 734-6305

DAVID M. STUMBO
Solicitor, Eighth Judicial Circuit
P.O. Box 516
Greenwood, SC 29648

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

**STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

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

I now state that I DO wish to answer questions at this time and that I do NOT wish to have a lawyer here during questioning.

My decision to answer questions now, without a lawyer, is made freely and is my own choice. No one has threatened me in any way or promised me special treatment. To show my decision, I am signing my name in the space below.

(R. p. 466 (emphasis in original)).

The record further lacks indicia sufficient to rebut the State’s burden of proving voluntariness by a preponderance of the evidence. Appellant has at no time contested his willing execution of the waiver of rights form. (R. p. 165, lines 4-10). Appellant merely takes to task conflicting testimony regarding his ability to make a phone call. Appellant testified that “they” put him “on phone restriction,” denying his request to make a phone call. (R. p. 162, lines 8-12). Appellant does not specify who “they” are, but insinuates that Detective Collins expressly rejected Appellant’s request to contact a family member. Conversely, Detective Collins testified that he offered Appellant a phone call but Appellant refused. (R. p. 159, lines 12-21). The trial judge found Detective Collins’ testimony on this point more credible. (R. p. 170, lines 12-24).

Not only does Appellant’s testimony fail to establish that Appellant was prohibited from independently invoking his right to counsel, it also fails to establish that Appellant faced undue

coercion where he entertained no entitlement to the advice of a relative. In regards to Appellant's testimony that he would have called his grandmother to ask her to "talk to a lawyer" and meet him at the police station, (R. p. 163, lines 1-7), no testimony supports any contention that Appellant summoned a relative at any point during the interview. Appellant testified that Detective Collins "didn't give [him] a chance" to call his grandmother and only asked Appellant if he wanted a lawyer. (R. p. 164, lines 22-25). At the time of his arrest, Appellant presented as an able-minded seventeen-year-old with an eleventh grade education. Nothing required law enforcement to inquire as to whether Appellant, an adult, wanted to meet with a relative. *State v. Register, supra*. The trial court correctly considered this point in conjunction with Appellant's age:

[T]he Defendant in this case was [seventeen]. So he's an adult. And I can take into account the fact that he is [seventeen] under the age prong. But as far as whether the State had a legal obligation to provide a guardian ad litem for him or get his parents up there or his grandma up there, I don't know that that's necessarily something that the State is compelled to do under these circumstances.

(R. p. 169, lines 7-14).

Here, "the question of the voluntariness of such a confession can come down to a question of credibility, which may be resolved by the trial court in favor of the officers." *State v. Thompson*, 413 S.C. 590, 608, 776 S.E.2d 413, 423 (2015); *State v. McClure*, 312 S.C. at 371-72, 440 S.E.2d at 405-06. Did Appellant lack any knowledge of the charge he was suspected of, and was he refused a phone call after specifically asking for one in the interview room? The totality of the evidence tends to answer both questions in the negative. Nothing in the record dispels the trial court's credibility determination in favor of Detective Collins. Another point of controversy between the Detective and Appellant's testimonies in fact lends support to this credibility determination. Appellant maintained that he was not charged until after he was

arrested, after he was interviewed, and after he gave his statement. (R. p. 161, lines 16-25; R. p. 164, line 5-21). However, Appellant was advised that his questioning pertained to victim's murder prior to making his statement—"Appellant was arrested on warrants just prior to [the Detective] interviewing him." (R. p. 159, lines 4-5). Detective Collins further testified, and it is apparent from the recorded statement, Appellant was advised of the charge in conjunction with his interrogation. (R. p. 154, lines 3-7; State's Exhibit 34).

Appellant argues that later trial testimony contradicts testimony upon which the *Denno* hearing outcome was based and, thus, that the trial court's ruling finds no evidentiary support in the record. (Br. of Appellant, p. 8 (citing to R. p. 197, lines 5-8)). That argument is erroneously premised upon evidence not presented at the *Denno* hearing. Nothing in the record lending to the threshold voluntariness ruling indicates that Appellant's recorded confession did not appear voluntary by a preponderance of the evidence. The record instead demonstrates that the State met its burden during the *Denno* hearing: there exists no evidence of police coercion, misrepresentation, concealment of the right to invoke the advice of legal counsel, or immaturity on the part of Appellant which may disable a defendant's decision-making. Appellant's waiver can only be construed as a deliberate choice and Appellant's testimony fails to persuasively contradict Detective Collins on this point.

The trial judge properly submitted Appellant's inculpatory statement to the jury to "determine whether the statement was given freely and voluntarily beyond a reasonable doubt." *State v. Parker*, 381 S.C. at 75, 671 S.E.2d at 622. And the jury was duly charged on that point. (R. p. 363, line 24 – p. 365, line 9).

- B. Any error in the trial court's preliminary ruling proves harmless because, in addition to evidence of overwhelming guilt, trial testimony regarding the voluntariness of Appellant's statement fails to undermine the trial court's threshold determination on that issue, corroborates that determination, and in fact adds confidence to the trial court's earlier credibility finding.

Even where a defendant's due process rights are concerned, harmless error may apply where a consideration of the entire record lends the reviewing court to determine beyond a reasonable doubt that the error complained of did not contribute to the verdict. *Chapman v. California*, 386 U.S. 18, 87 S.Ct. 824 (1967). "[T]he test is whether there is a reasonable probability that the statements contributed to the defendant's conviction of the crime, or if the defendant's statements were merely cumulative." *State v. Clute*, 324 S.C. 584, 591-92, 480 S.E.2d 85, 89 (Ct. App. 1996) *overruled on other grounds by State v. Aleksey*, 343 S.C. 20, 538 S.E.2d 248 (2000). Harmless error also applies when voluntariness is only reasonable inference to be drawn from evidence regarding a defendant's confession. *See State v. Victor*, 300 S.C. 220, 224, 387 S.E.2d 248, 50 (1989).

- i. *Appellant's recorded statement remains cumulative to and corroborative of his own trial testimony.*

Trial testimony offered by both Detective Collins and Appellant fails to undermine the trial court's threshold ruling on the issue of voluntariness. In fact, the trial testimony on this issue bolsters the trial court's ruling because it so nearly corroborates and further explains any question of coercive behavior on behalf of law enforcement.

Detective Collins testified as to the same series of events surrounding the nature of Appellant's confession as he testified to during the *Denno* hearing. (*Compare* R. p. 189, line 2 – p. 193, line 13 *with* R. p. 152, line 18 – p. 160, line 6). Even when Appellant's counsel cross-examined Detective Collins on the issue of voluntariness, counsel failed to elicit any testimony

from the Detective that undermined the court's threshold determination on that issue. (R. p. 195, line 9 – p. 197, line 18). Detective Collins's cross-examination instead revealed that during the interview he was aware that Appellant turned seventeen shortly before the crime; that he did offer Appellant a phone call at the end of the interview but Appellant refused; that Appellant did not otherwise ask to make a phone call during the interview process; that Appellant was placed on phone restriction after the interview and after being booked into the jail; and again that Appellant was advised of his rights, including that of counsel. (R. p. 196, line 5 – p. 197, line 10). The Detective ultimately testified that he "was not" satisfied that Appellant offered a truthful version of events. (R. p. 206, lines 6-8).

Detective Collins also testified that he had no knowledge that Appellant's mother had arrived at the interview location. (R. p. 196, lines 12-14; R. p. 197, lines 11-18). Appellant's mother later testified in her son's defense. Her testimony too failed to dispel the voluntariness of Petitioner's confession. Although she testified that law enforcement rebuffed her efforts to see her son until the day following his arrest, (R. p. 284, line 10 – p. 288, line 9), no other testimony in the record demonstrates that Appellant *asked* to see her. And, her testimony demonstrates that she arrived at the police station between 9:00 and 10:00 PM on the evening of Appellant's arrest. (R. p. 285, lines 4-8). Appellant executed his recorded statement at approximately 9:00 PM. (State's Exhibit 35). Thus, Appellant's mother's testimony fails to establish that she made it to the police station in time to intercept Appellant's interrogation had she been requested to do so.

Finally, to the extent that it was elicited at trial, Appellant's own testimony agreed with that of Detective Collins. Appellant agrees that questioning lasted somewhere around half an hour. (R. p. 309, lines 8-10). Appellant testified that he "asked the people in the detention center" if he could use the phone and was told he was on phone restriction at that time, indicating that

Appellant did not seek to reach out to his family until after the interview. (R. p. 311, lines 12-22). Thus, voluntariness remains the only reasonable inference to be drawn from the evidence lending towards Appellant's engagement in recording an inculpatory statement.

ii. *The remainder of the record provides overwhelming evidence probative of Appellant's guilt.*

Each co-defendant testified against Appellant in a corroborative manner. It remained clear throughout trial that Michael Patten, Markece Moore ("Lank") and Bryson Jefferson accompanied Appellant to and from the scene. (R. p. 68, line 1 – p. 69, line 16; R. p. 87, line 23 – p. 88, line 17; R. p. 90, lines 1-16). Testimony established that the plan that night was for Appellant "to rob somebody"—that was the sole reason that Appellant got out of the car on Franklin Street. (R. p. 69, lines 12-16; R. p. 73, lines 11-17). They targeted the victim simply because he happened to be walking down the street upon which the young men drove seeking to hit a lick upon any victim who may happen upon them. (R. p. 33, line 7 – p. 34, line 1; R. p. 73, lines 18-20).

Lank accompanied Appellant out of the car but ran after witnessing the first shot. (R. p. 60, lines 1-13). According to Lank, Appellant was the aggressor. (R. p. 37, lines 1-10). Lank ran back to the car first and told Patten and Jefferson that "Purp [Appellant] had shot the Mexican." (R. p. 74, lines 7-11). Appellant confessed the same to Patten when he rejoined the young men in the car. (R. p. 74, lines 13-24). Patten and Lank also witnessed Appellant burn his shirt in a barrel following the incident. (R. p. 41, lines 7-14; R. 74, lines 18-21).

Each of the young men knew Appellant to carry a gun which they believed to be a Glock. (R. p. 37, line 13 – p. 38, line 5; R. p. 72, line 11 – p. 73, line 3; R. p. 75, lines 10-16; R. p. 88, lines 20-25; R. p. 91, lines 14-19; R. p. 91, lines 17-19). Patten testified that he learned that

Appellant sold his gun following the incident. (R. p. 76, lines 6-20). The State's firearm and toolmark examiner testified that a Glock could have fired the two projectiles recovered from the victim's body. (R. p. 234, lines 3-9).

An eyewitness who was unaffiliated with the young men testified that the shorter perpetrator with small twisted dreadlocks held something shiny in his hand which the witness believed to be the gun that fired two shots. (R. p. 100, line 22 – p. 102, line 15; R. p. 116, lines 10-13). At the time of arrest, Appellant had short twisted dreadlocks. (R. pp. 467 – 468). Testimony also established that he is shorter than Moore. (R. p. 194, lines 2-12).

Appellant's own trial testimony did not isolate him from culpability. Appellant testified that he got in the car knowing that he was accompanying the others in hitting a lick. (R. p. 303, line 14 – p. 304, line 10; R. p. 316, lines 4-22). When it came to the shooting, he denied having a gun and pointed the finger at Lank. (R. p. 306, line 21 – p. 307, line 3; R. p. 309, lines 1-4; State's Exhibit 35). Appellant's testimony then created a mirror-image of that offered by Lank during the State's case-in-chief. Appellant testified that when he witnessed the first shot, he backed up and ran away. (R. p. 307, lines 8-23).

The jury, however, had a choice between whose version of the shooting merited more weight in their deliberations. Appellant's cross-examination of Detective Collins highlighted the existence of discrepancies in Appellant's and his co-defendants' statements. (R. p. 198, line 20 – p. 201, line 20). Detective Collins stated that he did not "think any of them were completely honest throughout the interview in the beginning." (R. p. 199, lines 19-20). But given the choice among whom to believe, the totality of the evidence against Appellant demonstrates his culpability beyond a reasonable doubt. The greater weight of the testimony, all but Appellant's, exhibits that he acted as the shooter. At the very least, the State established Appellant's guilt

under the theory of the hand of one, for even if the jury determined that Appellant did not act as the triggerman, the evidence shows that Appellant acted as an accomplice in the lick that the young men set out to hit that night. No rational conclusion can be reached from the evidence presented at trial which would exculpate Appellant from the acts that resulted in the victim's death.

II. The trial court did not err in denying Appellant’s attempt to present his mitigation case via individualized, sworn testimony because no precedent establishes a particular procedure that the court must follow before sentencing an individual under the age of eighteen to a term-of-years sentence and because the sentencing court heard evidence related to and gave due consideration to Appellant’s age, individual history and characteristics, and family circumstance prior to issuing a forty-five-year sentence.

South Carolina employs a constitutionally permissible sentencing scheme in which juvenile homicide offenders are subject to a discretionary sentence ranging from a minimum of 30 years to a maximum of life without the possibility of parole. S.C. Code. Ann. § 16-3-20(A); *Aiken v. Byars*, 410 S.C. 534, 545, 765 S.E.2d 572, 578 (2014) *cert. denied*, 135 S. Ct. 2379, 192 L. Ed. 2d 179 (U.S.S.C. 2015); *see Miller v. Alabama*, — U.S. —, 132 S.Ct. 2455 (2012) (the Eighth Amendment forbids a juvenile offender’s receipt of a life sentence without the possibility of parole when the charge mandates the life sentence); *Graham v. Florida*, 560 U.S. 48, 82, 130 S.Ct. 2011, 2034 (2010) (the Constitution prohibits juvenile non-homicide offenders from receiving a sentence of life without parole); *Roper v. Simmons*, 543 U.S. 551, 125 S.Ct. 1183 (2005) (unconstitutional to subject a juvenile to a capital sentence). Upon conviction, the trial judge sentenced Appellant to a term of 45 years. (R. pp. 473 – 474). The trial judge denied Appellant’s motion to reconsider that sentence, but later reduced Appellant’s sentence to 40 years upon motion by the State. (R. pp. 416 – 417; R. pp. 478 – 479).

This Court will not overturn a sentence unless it determines the sentencing court abused its discretion in issuing a ruling; that is, the trial court’s ruling must amount to an error of law. *State v. Dawson*, 402 S.C. 160, 163, 740 S.E.2d 501, 502 (2013). Generally, appellate courts will only interfere with the discretion of a judge in the imposition of a sentence in rare and unusual circumstances. *State v. Ferguson*, 221 S.C. 300, 307, 70 S.E.2d 355, 358 (1952). “Absent partiality, prejudice, oppression, or corrupt motive, [the appellate court] lacks jurisdiction to

disturb a sentence that is within the limit prescribed by statute.” *State v. Barton*, 325 S.C. 522, 531, 481 S.E.2d 439, 444 (Ct. App. 1997). Appellant now asks this Court to find that the trial judge erroneously applied new jurisprudence, dicta, concerning juvenile sentencing proceedings in light of the seventeen-year-old’s homicide conviction. No such abuse can be found to result from the trial court’s handling of Appellant’s sentencing proceeding.

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